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[REDACTED]                                                                    

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]                                                    

[REDACTED]


                                                                        RE:  MV00003130
                                                                                            [REDACTED]
                                                                                            M/V [REDACTED]
                                                                                            $10,000.00

Dear Mr. [REDACTED]:

The Commanding Officer, Coast Guard Hearing Office, Arlington, Virginia, has forwarded the file in Civil Penalty Case MV00003130, which includes your appeal on behalf of [REDACTED] ([REDACTED]), owners of the barge [REDACTED].  The appeal is from the action of the Hearing Officer in assessing a $10,000.00 penalty for the following violation:

	Law/Regulation
	Nature of Violation
	Assessed Penalty

	33 CFR 160.111
	Failure to comply with an order to anchor or operate a vessel in the manner directed.
	$10,000.00 


The violation was first observed on August 22, 2000, when the barge [REDACTED] allegedly failed to comply with a Coast Guard Captain of the Port Order to move from its anchorage at [REDACTED], in San Juan Harbor, to a pier in San Juan, Puerto Rico, as the Port prepared for the onslaught of Hurricane Debbie.      

On appeal, you deny the violation and contend that “the record as a whole demonstrates that rather than disobeying or willfully or negligently failing to comply with the COTP Order #34-00, [REDACTED] faced an impossibility of compliance, since the said COTP Order required the transfer of the ‘[REDACTED]’ to a pier ‘for adequate mooring.’”  You further assert that “[o]nly the [REDACTED] [[REDACTED]] could assign a pier for the barge, where other mooring arrangements satisfactory to the U.S. Coast Guard could have been made.”  Although you assert that “[REDACTED] was unable to obtain such pier facility from the [REDACTED] for reasons totally beyond its control,” you nonetheless note that [REDACTED] took “additional measures” to secure the barge “which included positioning the 1500 HP Tug ‘[REDACTED]’ on stand-by for any emergency.”  Furthermore, you assert that the Hearing Officer erred by failing to allow [REDACTED] to cross-examine Mr. [REDACTED].  You conclude that these additional safety measures “show [REDACTED]’s genuine concern for safety and its compromise to take whatever addition security measures it could take, given the impossibility of obtaining from the [REDACTED] a pier, to satisfy the requirement of COTP Order #34-00.”  Your appeal is denied for the reasons discussed below.  

Before I begin, I believe a brief recitation of the facts surrounding the violation is in order.  On August 21, 2000, the Captain of the Port of San Juan, Puerto Rico issued three Marine Safety Information Bulletins (MSIBs #23-00. #24-00, and, #25-00)  indicating port conditions in effect in an around Puerto Rico during the approach of Hurricane Debbie.  The final MSIB, number 25-00, made clear that all ports in Puerto Rico were to be set in Port Condition 2 at 8:00 p.m. on August 21, 2000.  The MSIB made clear that, as a result of the elevated port condition, Puerto Rican ports would be “closed to inbound traffic” and that all vessels (other than barges) greater than 200 gross tons were to make preparations to get underway and exit the ports.  All three MSIBs contained instructions indicating that any vessel over 200 gross tons seeking to remain in port was required to submit a mooring plan to Marine Safety Office (MSO) San Juan for approval.  Because the M/V [REDACTED] exceeded 200 gross tons, [REDACTED] provided MSO San Juan with a mooring plan for the vessel.  The narrative statement contained in the Coast Guard’s report of the incident indicates that MSO San Juan reviewed [REDACTED]’s mooring plan and determined that it “did not comply with basic mooring standards and/or prudent seamanship as to adequately secure the vessel for the approaching storm.”  MSO San Juan subsequently informed [REDACTED] that their mooring plan had not been approved and informed the company both that the vessel was required to be moved, from its anchor site at [REDACTED] to a pier, and that before the vessel was moved, a new mooring plan was required to be submitted to MSO San Juan.    

Thereafter, on August 22, 2000, the Captain of the Port of San Juan issued Captain of the Port Order (COTP) Number 34-00 to the M/V [REDACTED] because the vessel had not been moved to a pier as was required by MSO San Juan.  COTP No. 34-00 made clear that the vessel had “been determined to present a significant hazard to a port within Puerto Rico or the U.S. Virgin Islands as Hurricane Debby (sic) passe[d] through these areas.”  Because the COTP determined that the vessel was “in violation of the Safety Zone” established at the approach of Hurricane Debbie, the COTP ordered that the vessel “be adequately moored to a pier and provide a mooring plan until weather conditions improve[d].”  Even after COTP No. 34-00 was issued, the vessel remained at anchorage without authorization from the COTP, in violation of the COTP Order.      

Before I address the violation at issue, I will address the procedural concerns that you raise on appeal.  The Coast Guard's civil penalty program is a critical element in the enforcement of numerous marine safety and environmental laws.  The civil penalty process is remedial in nature and is designed to achieve compliance through the issuance of either warnings or the assessment of monetary administrative penalties by Coast Guard Hearing Officers when violations are proved.  Procedural rules, set forth at 33 CFR 1.07, are designed to ensure that parties are afforded maximum due process during informal adjudicative proceedings.  By balancing procedural fairness and legislative intent, the civil penalty process plays an important and essential role in furthering national maritime safety and environmental goals. 

While you contend that the Hearing Officer erred by not affording you the opportunity to cross-examine Mr. [REDACTED], you fail to understand the true meaning of the Coast Guard’s informal process.  33 CFR 1.07-55(b) provides that evidence presented during civil penalty proceedings may include “sworn or unsworn testimony.”  33 CFR 1.07-55(d) further provides that the Hearing Officer is not bound by the strict rules of evidence.  Therefore, contrary to your assertion, the Hearing Officer did not commit error by failing to allow formal cross-examination of all parties offering statements in the record.  

I will now address the violation at issue.  As a preliminary matter, I note that [REDACTED] has been charged with a violation of 33 CFR 160.111.  33 CFR 160.111 outlines the circumstances under which it is appropriate for a COTP to issue an order to a vessel.  While it is clear that the instant violation plainly results from a violation of a COTP Order issued by the COTP of Puerto Rico under the authority outlined in 33 CFR 160.111, the violation, itself, results from [REDACTED]’s failure to comply with a COTP Order.  33 CFR 160.105 makes clear that “[e]ach person who has notice of the terms of an order issued under this subpart must comply with that order.”  Therefore, in light of [REDACTED]’s failure to comply with COTP Order number 34-00, both the Coast Guard’s charge sheet and the Hearing Officer’s letter of assessment should have indicated that violation was of 33 CFR 160.105, not 33 CFR 160.111.  However, because the correct nature of the violation was described throughout the civil penalty proceedings and because the violation was indicated, albeit in the incorrect location, on both the Coast Guard’s Charge Sheet and in the Hearing Officer’s correspondence, the error was harmless.   

As I noted above, you do not deny that [REDACTED] failed to comply with COTP Order No. 34-00; rather, you contend that “[REDACTED] faced an impossibility of compliance” with the Order.  Upon a thorough review of the record, I find your assertion to be without merit.  

The record indicates that, upon the issuance of the Coast Guard’s MSIBs on August 21, 2001, [REDACTED] submitted a mooring plan to MSO San Juan (in an attempt to keep the vessel anchored at [REDACTED]’s facility in San Juan Harbor) as required by the Coast Guard.  Because the Coast Guard did not approve the mooring plan submitted by [REDACTED], the M/V [REDACTED] was required to be moved to a pier where it could be moored in a manner approved by MSO San Juan.  Although the record is unclear as to the exact extent of [REDACTED]’s attempt to secure pier space for its vessel, there is no doubt that [REDACTED] failed to do so and that the vessel remained at the [REDACTED], even after COTP Order No. 34-00 was issued by MSO San Juan.  Therefore, the record clearly evidences that [REDACTED] failed to comply with COTP Order No. 34-00 and that a violation occurred.    

As I noted above, you contend that it was impossible for [REDACTED] to comply with COTP Order No. 34-00.  In so doing, you contend that [REDACTED] made every attempt to “ensure that the ‘[REDACTED]’ would be safely secured to her mooring buoy,” that “the mooring buoy anchorage at [REDACTED] was a facility approved by the U.S. Coast Guard and by [REDACTED] for years,” that, although the vessel was not moved to another facility additional measures were taken to secure the vessel to its mooring, and, that [REDACTED] had the tug [REDACTED] on “stand-by” to assist the M/V [REDACTED] if an emergency situation arose.  These arguments are simply without merit.  The record clearly evidences that the Coast Guard did not find the anchorage to be safe and, as a consequence, ordered the vessel to be moved.  Your assertions ignore the fact that the Coast Guard, while properly exercising its authority, found the mooring to be unsafe.  Whether the [REDACTED] mooring facility had been approved for years, or not, the record clearly evidences that the Coast Guard did not find [REDACTED]’s mooring plan or location appropriate under the circumstances present on August 21, 2000.          

You further contend that [REDACTED] was unable to contact the [REDACTED] as they attempted to find available pier space for its vessel.  To support this assertion, you have provided a copy of a signed letter from Mr. [REDACTED], dated December 26, 2001, indicating that it is “very possible that Mr. [REDACTED] [a representative of [REDACTED]] may have made attempts and/or even contacted the Maritime Bureau during such an emergency in an effort to obtain berthing for his vessel” and that “[i]t is also possible that the Maritime Bureau was unable to contact him in response to his contacts during such emergency.”  You further assert that Mr. [REDACTED]’s initial statement, dated September 5, 2000, which indicated that “[d]uring the port condition 3 due to Hurricane Debbie on August 22, 2000…[[REDACTED]]…did not make any contact or agreement with Mr. [REDACTED] from [REDACTED] to use our facilities,” was improperly accorded “great weight” by the Hearing Officer when he assessed the $10,000.00 penalty at issue.  I do not agree with your conclusion that the second statement of Mr. [REDACTED] proves that [REDACTED] took all steps necessary in attempting to move the M/V [REDACTED] to a pier. Read together, the two statements of Mr. [REDACTED] simply prove that, although it is possible that  [REDACTED] did, in fact, attempt to contact the [REDACTED] concerning pier space for its vessel, Mr. [REDACTED] has no recollection of such an endeavor.  Given the circumstances present at the time of the violation, I find it hard to believe that [REDACTED] was unable to contact anyone from either the [REDACTED] or the Coast Guard during its efforts to obtain pier space for the vessel.  As a representative of the Coast Guard’s Seventh District noted in his Endorsement to MSO San Juan’s rebuttal comments, dated April 9, 2002, “[REDACTED] personnel were in direct communication with each other, and that personnel from both agencies were available at any time to respondent.”  Furthermore, the record indicates that the Coast Guard was unable to contact [REDACTED] after the company was instructed to move the vessel to a pier.  Given the information contained in the record, I do not find your assertion in this regard to be persuasive.  

Perhaps more importantly, I note that the COTP Order at issue clearly indicated the procedures [REDACTED] was to follow if it was unable to comply with the order.  To that end, COTP No. 34-00 stated: “[i]n the event that you feel this Captain of the Port Order creates an undue hardship or cannot be complied with you may request a reconsideration of my decision in this matter.”  The COTP further stated that, if [REDACTED] was not satisfied with the result of the reconsideration, it had “the right to appeal to Commander, Seventh Coast Guard District in writing or where in the case of immediate necessity, verbally with written copy to follow within five days.”  However, the Order made clear that it would “remain in effect while in the appeal stage.”  The record indicates that the Hearing Officer considered [REDACTED]’s letter to MSO San Juan, dated August 23, 2000, to be a request for reconsideration of the COTP Order.  Because that request was denied and because [REDACTED] did not further appeal the COTP to the Commander of the Seventh Coast Guard District, [REDACTED] has procedurally waived its right to have that issue considered.  

Accordingly, I find that there is substantial evidence in the record to support the Hearing Officer’s determination that the violations occurred and that [REDACTED] is the responsible party.  The Hearing Officer’s decision was neither arbitrary nor capricious and is hereby affirmed.  I find the $10,000.00 penalty assessed, rather than the $27,500.00 maximum permitted by statute appropriate in light of the seriousness of the violations.

In accordance with the regulations governing civil penalty proceedings, 33 CFR 1.07, this decision constitutes final agency action.  Payment of $10,000.00 by check or money order payable to the U.S. Coast Guard is due and should be remitted promptly, accompanied by a copy of this letter.  Send your payment to:

U.S. Coast Guard - Civil Penalties
P.O. Box 100160
Atlanta, GA  30384

Payments received within 30 days will not accrue interest.  However, interest at the annual rate of 4.25% accrues from the date of this letter if payment is not received within 30 days.  Payments received after 30 days will be assessed an administrative charge of $12.00 per month for the cost of collecting the debt.  If the debt remains unpaid for over 90 days, a 6% per annum late payment penalty will be assessed on the balance of the debt, the accrued interest, and administrative costs.


                                                   Sincerely,


                                                   //S//


                                                   david j. kantor

                                                   Deputy Chief,

                                                   Office of Maritime and International Law 

                                                   By direction of the Commandant

Copy:  Commanding Officer, Coast Guard Hearing Office
            Commanding Officer, Coast Guard Finance Center 
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